
AMENDED AND RESTATED
BYLAWS
OF
FRIENDS OF ARCHBISHOP RYAN HIGH SCHOOL
(A PENNSYLVANIA NONPROFIT CORPORATION)
PROPOSED
August 19, 2015

CORPORATE BYLAWS

of

FRIENDS OF ARCHBISHOP RYAN HIGH SCHOOL

ARTICLE I
GENERAL

1.1 **Name.** The name of the Organization is “Friends of Archbishop Ryan High School” (the “Organization”).

1.2 **State of Incorporation.** The Organization is a Pennsylvania nonprofit corporation, organized under the Pennsylvania Nonprofit Corporation Law of 1988.

1.3 **Registered Office.** The registered office of the Organization in Pennsylvania shall be at the place designated in the Articles of Incorporation, or at such place within the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania as the Board of Directors may from time to time determine.

1.4 **Other Offices.** The Organization may also have offices at such other places within and without the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania as the Board of Directors may from time to time determine, or as the activities of the Organization may require.

1.5 **Corporate Seal.** The Organization shall not use a corporate seal and all documents, instruments, and agreements executed and delivered by the Organization shall have the same efficacy as if a corporate seal had been affixed thereto.

1.6 **Purposes.** The purposes of the Organization are as provided in the Articles of Incorporation.

ARTICLE II
MEMBERSHIP

2.1 Membership. The Organization has the following charter members: Dave Bontempo, Patricia Hallman, Julie Bamberger-Herrmann, Ruth Kaferle, Sean Killion, Charlie Koslosky, Hollie McDonald, Colleen Munsey, Madonna Phillips, Mim Roberts, Marie Smith, Bob Tamaro, Tami Walsh, and Maria Zimmerman. All charter members and new members retain member status by attending no less than five board meetings per fiscal year in person.

2.2 Honorary Titles. The Organization may create such classes of “membership,” such as contributing members or honorary members, as the Directors see fit, but such persons shall not have the rights of members under the Pennsylvania Nonprofit Corporation Law of 1988, as amended.

ARTICLE III
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

3.1 General Powers. The business and affairs of the Organization shall be managed by a Board of Directors and all powers to act for the Organization are hereby granted to and vested in the Board of Directors, except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws, the Articles of Incorporation or by law. The Directors shall exercise due diligence consistent with a duty of care that requires them to act in good faith, with the care an ordinarily prudent person in a like position would exercise under similar circumstances and in a manner that they believe is in the best interests of the Organization.

3.2 Number. The Board of Directors shall consist of not less than three (3) nor more than thirty (30) Directors who shall be natural persons of full age (collectively, the “**Board,**” “**Board of Directors,**” or “**Directors,**” and individually, a “**Director**”). The number of Directors may be increased or decreased by a vote of simple majority of the members of the Board.

3.3 Qualifications. Directors must have an ability to participate effectively in fulfilling the responsibilities of the Board of Directors. Directors need not be residents of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.

3.4 Election. The Directors shall be elected by a vote of simple majority of the members of the Board at the annual meeting of the Directors, or as needed in the case of vacancies.

3.5 Term of Office. Directors shall serve for no longer than two, two-year terms and until their successors are duly elected and qualify. After serving two, two-year terms, a Director may be eligible to be re-elected to the Board for two additional two-year terms after leaving the Board for one year. There is no limit on the number of two, two-year terms that a Director may be eligible to serve. The terms of the Directors may be staggered. The term of office for each Director shall end (i) on the date specified and his/her successor is elected and qualifies; (ii) when he/she was appointed and his/her successor is elected and qualifies; or (iii) upon his/her earlier death, resignation, or removal.

3.6 Vacancies. Vacancies in the Board of Directors, including vacancies resulting from an increase in the authorized number of Directors, shall be suggested by the President and elected by the majority of the members. Any Director so elected shall serve for the balance of the unexpired term to which he or she is elected. Upon completion of the term to which the Director was appointed, the Director is eligible to serve his/her regular two, two-year terms.

3.7 Place of Meetings. The meetings of the Board of Directors may be held at such place within or without the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania as a majority of the Directors may from time to time by resolution determine, or as may be designated in the notice or waiver of notice of a particular meeting. In the absence of specification, such meetings shall be held at Archbishop Ryan High School.

3.8 Annual Meeting. An annual meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held each year, in the last quarter of the Organization's fiscal year to review operations during the immediately preceding year, elect officers, and transact such other business as may properly be brought before the meeting; or such meeting may convene at such other time and place as may be fixed by resolution of the Directors adopted at the meeting at which the Directors were elected, or by the consent in writing of all the Directors.

3.9 Regular Meetings. Regular meetings of the Board of Directors will be held monthly at such times as the Board may by resolution determine.

3.10 Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called at any time by the President, or by two-thirds majority of the Board of Directors. Any such request by the Board of Directors shall be made to the Secretary and shall state the time and place of the proposed meeting. Upon receipt of such request it shall be the duty of the Secretary to issue the call for such meeting promptly. If the Secretary shall neglect to issue such call, the Directors making the request may issue the call.

3.11 Quorum. At all meetings of the Board, a majority of the total number of the Directors in office shall be necessary to constitute a quorum for the transaction of business, and the acts of a majority of the Directors present (including participants by telephone or similar communication as provided in these Bylaws) at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the acts of the Board of Directors, unless a higher threshold is specifically required by statute, by the Articles of Incorporation, or by these Bylaws. If a quorum shall not be present at any meeting of the Board of Directors, the Directors present thereat may adjourn the meeting from time to time, without notice, other than an announcement at the meeting, until a quorum shall be present.

3.12 Adjournment. Adjournment or adjournments of any meeting of the Directors may be taken, and it shall not be necessary to give any notice of the adjourned meeting or of the business to be transacted at the meeting other than by announcement at the meeting at which such adjournment is taken. At any adjourned meeting at which a quorum shall be present, any business may be transacted which might have been transacted at the meeting originally called.

3.13 Liability. To the fullest extent permitted by Pennsylvania law, now in effect and as may be amended from time to time, a Director or member shall not be personally liable for monetary damages for any action taken or any failure to take any action.

3.14 Compensation of Directors. No Director shall be compensated for services unless so authorized by a duly adopted resolution of the Board of Directors, requiring that: (a) such Director may only receive reasonable compensation for services rendered for the Organization in carrying out its exempt purposes as established by the Board of Directors; and (b) such compensation (i) is consistent with the Organization's financial policies, (ii) does not adversely affect the Organization's qualification as an organization exempt under Section 501(a) and described under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code") or give rise to intermediate sanctions under the Code, and (ii) shall be set by a committee composed of persons who have no financial interest in such determination. Directors may be reimbursed for reasonable expenses in performance of their duties as Board members and for attendance at each meeting of the Board or committees as provided in these Bylaws.

3.15 Loans to Directors. No loans shall be made by the Organization to any of its Directors.

3.16 Executive Committee. The Executive Committee shall be comprised of the officers of the Organization, all of whom shall be Directors. The Executive Committee shall have and exercise the powers and authority of the Board of Directors in the management and business of the Organization, except that neither the Executive Committee, nor any other committee established by the Board, shall have the power or authority as to: (a) the filling of vacancies of the Board of Directors; (b) the adoption, amendment, or repeal of these Bylaws; (c) the amendment or repeal of any resolution of the Board of Directors; (d) action on matters committed by these Bylaws or resolution of the Board of Directors to another committee of the Board; or (e) action on matters pertaining to the acquisition, sale, mortgage, or pledge of real property. Action of the Executive Committee shall be communicated to the Board of Directors within 5 business by electronic transmission and ratified by the Board to the extent possible at its next regular or special meeting. Vacancies in the membership of the Executive Committee shall be filled by the Board of Directors. The Executive Committee shall keep regular minutes of its proceedings and report the same to the Board at each regular meeting of the Board.

3.17 Other Committees and Advisory Boards. The Board of Directors may from time to time establish one or more standing or special committees, or advisory boards, and designate their function and responsibility, as it may deem appropriate and desirable. Members appointed to committees need not be Directors, but any committee member who is not a Director may not be a voting member of the committee. Except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws, the Articles of Incorporation, or applicable law, any committee may exercise such powers and functions as the Board of Directors may from time to time determine. See Section 3.16 above for limitations on the power and authority of committees. Except as the Board may otherwise

determine, the President shall recruit from the membership committee chairpersons and may appoint alternates for any chairperson of any committee.

3.18 Committee Reports. The Chairperson of each committee shall deliver a report of the activities of the committee to the Board of Directors at each regularly scheduled Board meeting, or otherwise as requested by the President. If the Chairperson of the committee is unable to be present for the committee report, the Chairperson may designate another member of the committee to deliver its report. The Board of Directors shall adopt rules of procedure as it deems necessary for the conduct of the affairs of each committee.

3.19 Resignation of Directors. A Director may resign at any time by giving written notice to the President or to the Secretary of the Organization. Such resignation shall take effect on the date of receipt or at any later time which the notice specifies.

3.20 Removal of Directors. A Director may be removed for proper cause by a majority vote of the members entitled to vote for the election of Directors. Proper cause may include, but is not limited to (a) a violation of the Conflicts of Interest Policy, (b) failure to attend five regular meetings of the Board of Directors in any fiscal year. A Director may also be removed if within sixty (60) days after notice of his/election, he/she does not accept such office either in writing or by attending a meeting of the Board, and fulfill such other requirements of qualification as these Bylaws may specify.

ARTICLE IV
OFFICERS, AGENTS, AND EMPLOYEES

4.1 Officers. The officers of the Organization shall be natural persons of at least eighteen (18) years of age, and there shall be a President, a President-Elect, a Past President. Additionally Organization will also have the following five (5) Vice Presidents: VP of Faculty and Administration Affairs, VP for Annual Programs, VP for Alumni Development, VP for Awards and Recognition, VP for Educational Foundation; a Secretary and a Treasurer, all of whom shall be Directors currently in office and shall be elected as officers by the Board of Directors. In addition, as the Board of Directors may determine necessary, there may also be additional Vice Presidents and assistant officers.

4.2 Duties. In addition to the powers and duties prescribed by these Bylaws, the officers shall have such authority and shall perform such duties as from time to time shall be prescribed by the Board of Directors. Officers shall ensure that the Board is fully informed about the Organization's activities and financial status and that they have full and accurate information necessary to make informed decisions about the Organization's operations. The Board of Directors may add to the corporate title of any officer (other than the President) a functional title in word or words descriptive of his or her powers or the general character of his or her duties.

4.3 Selection, Terms. The officers of the Organization shall be elected by the Board of Directors at its annual meeting at their annual meeting or at a special meeting called for such purpose. Officers shall serve for a term of two (2) years, or as specified in the resolution electing or appointing such officers and until their successors are chosen and qualify, unless they are sooner removed from office as provided in these Bylaws. After completing his/her two (2) year

term, the President-Elect shall assume the office of President. All other offices will be open for election/re-election at the end of each year. Any vacancy in any office shall be filled by the Board. The elected officer shall fill the unexpired portion of the term to which he/she is elected or appointed.

4.4 Loans to Officers. No loans shall be made by the Organization to any of its officers.

4.5 Agents or Employees. The Board of Directors may by resolution designate the officer or officers who shall have authority to appoint such agents or employees as the needs of the Organization may require. In the absence of such designation, this function may be performed by the President and may be delegated by the President to others in whole or in part.

4.6 Removal of Officers, Agents or Employees. Any officer, agent or employee of the Organization may be removed or his or her authority revoked by resolution of the Board of Directors, or in such manner as may be determined by resolutions of the Board of Directors, whenever in its judgment the best interests of the Organization will be served thereby, but such removal or revocation shall be without prejudice to the contract rights, if any, of the person so removed. Any employee of the Organization likewise may be removed by the President or, subject to the supervision of the President, by the person having authority with respect to the appointment of such agent or employee.

4.7 Compensation. The salaries or compensation, if any, of all officers of the Organization shall be fixed by, or in the manner prescribed by, the Board of Directors, provided that no officer shall be compensated for services unless so authorized by a duly adopted resolution of the Board of Directors, requiring that: (i) such officer may only receive reasonable compensation for services rendered for the Organization in carrying out its exempt purposes as established by the Board of Directors; and (ii) such compensation (a) is consistent with the Organization's financial policies, and (b) does not adversely affect the Organization's qualification as an organization exempt under Section 501(a) and described under Section 501(c)(3) of the Code, and (c) shall be set by a committee composed of persons who have no financial interest in such determination. The Board, the President, or others under the supervision of the President may also fix in accordance with the foregoing limitations the salaries or other compensation of any agents and employees of the Organization.

4.8 Duties and Functions. The officers shall otherwise have and exercise such duties and functions as usually attached to their offices, with such additional duties and functions and subject to such limitations as may be provided in these Bylaws or established by the Board of Directors. Assistant officers shall perform such functions and have such responsibilities as the Board of Directors may determine.

4.9 President; Powers and Duties. The President shall be the chief executive officer of the Organization. The President shall have general charge and supervision of the business of the Organization and shall exercise or perform all the powers and duties usually incident to the office of the President. The President shall oversee the fundraising activities of the Organization. The President shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors. The President shall from time to time make or cause to be made such reports of the affairs of the Organization as the Board may require. The President shall be responsible to the Board of Directors for the application and implementation of policies adopted by the Board of Directors. The President shall be a member, *ex officio* with vote, of every other committee appointed by the board, unless otherwise provided in the resolution creating the committee.

4.10 President-Elect; Powers and Duties. The President-Elect shall, in the absence or disability of the President, perform the duties and exercise the powers of the President. The President-Elect shall have such powers and perform such duties as may be assigned to him or her by the President and the Board of Directors. The President-Elect shall ensure that all legal responsibilities of the Organization are met on a timely basis. This position has voting privileges. After the initial 2-year term, the President-Elect shall assume the role of President.

4.11 Past President; Powers and Duties. The Past President shall have such powers and perform such duties as may be assigned to him or her by the President and the Board of Directors. The outgoing President will serve in the Past President role on the Executive Committee and in an advisory capacity to the President and the Board. . This position has voting privileges.

4.12 Vice Presidents; Powers and Duties. Each of the five (5) Vice Presidents shall attend all sessions of the Board and the Executive Committee; Vice Presidents shall have such powers and perform such duties as may be assigned to him or her by the President and the Board of Directors. These positions have voting privileges. The five (5) Vice Presidents are defined by an area of focus for the Association and are described as follows:

- A. Vice President for Alumni Engagement:** *focus on building programs for future Alumni engagement such as the Class Ambassador Program*
- B. Vice President for Annual Programs:** *focus on annual programs such as Shore Reunion, Winter Concert, and other programs for the school and Alumni*
- C. Vice President for Faculty and Staff Relations:** *focus on building and maintaining relationships with the Faculty and Staff at Archbishop Ryan High School and promoting ways to involved and engage faculty and staff in Alumni activities*
- D. Vice President for Awards and Recognition:** *focus on support awards and recognition programs for Alumni such as the Spirit of Ryan Awards*
- E. Vice President of the FARHS Educational Foundation:** *focus on annual fund raising programs such as Coach Bingo*

4.13 Secretary; Powers and Duties. The Secretary shall attend all sessions of the Board and the Executive Committee and record all the votes and minutes thereof in books to be kept for that purpose; and shall perform like duties for the Executive Committee of the Board of Directors when required. He or she shall give, or cause to be given, notice of all meetings of the Board of Directors, and shall perform such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board or by the President. This position has voting privileges.

4.14 Treasurer; Powers and Duties. The Treasurer shall be the chief financial officer and shall cause full and accurate accounts of receipts and disbursements to be kept in books belonging to the Organization. He or she shall see to the deposit of all monies and other valuable effects in the name and to the credit of the Organization in such depository or depositories as may be designated by the Board of Directors, subject to disbursement or disposition upon orders signed in such manner as the Board of Directors shall prescribe. The Treasurer shall render to the President and to the Directors, at the regular meetings of the Board or whenever the President or the Board may require it, an account of all his or her transactions as Treasurer and of the results of operations and financial condition of the Organization. He or she shall see that an annual audit or independent review of the Organization's books and records is performed by an auditor selected by the Board in compliance with the requirements of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and any other jurisdiction in which the Organization is doing business. The Treasurer shall oversee the investments for the growth of the Organization. This position has voting privileges.

4.15 If required by the Board, the Treasurer shall give the Organization a bond in such sum and with such surety or sureties as may be satisfactory to the Board for the faithful discharge of the duties of his or her office, and for the restoration to the Organization, in case of his or her death, resignation, retirement or removal from office, of all books, records, money and other property of whatever kind in his or her possession or under his or her control belonging to the Organization.

4.16 Delegation of Officers' Duties. Any officer may delegate duties to his or her duly elected or appointed assistant (if any); and in case of the absence of any officer or assistant officer of the Organization, or for any other reason that the Board of Directors may deem sufficient, the Board may delegate or authorize the delegation of his or her powers or duties, for the time being, to any person.

4.17 Executive Director. An Executive Director may be appointed by the Board of Directors. The Executive Director shall be accountable to the Board of Directors and subject to the direction of the President and shall perform the duties and functions as may be prescribed from time to time by the Board of Directors. The Executive Director shall prepare, from time to time, but at least once each calendar quarter, a report of the operations of the programs, committees, fundraising and other financial matters and the general operations of the Organization for presentation to the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE V
FINANCIAL AND CONTRACTUAL TRANSACTIONS

5.1 Contracts. Two-thirds of the Board of Directors may authorize any other officer or agent of the Organization, in addition to the officers so authorized by these Bylaws, to enter into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument (including, but not limited to, deeds and mortgages) in the name of and on behalf of the Organization, and such authority may be general or confined to specific instances.

5.2 Real Estate. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the statute or in these Bylaws, any decision to acquire, sell, mortgage, or pledge real property shall require at minimum the approval of two-thirds of the Board of Directors.

5.3 Borrowing. No loan shall be contracted on behalf of the Organization, and no evidence of indebtedness shall be issued in its name unless authorized by resolution of the Board of Directors. Such authorization may be general or confined to specific instances.

5.4 Checks, Drafts, Etc. All checks, notes, drafts, or other orders for the payment of money and documents of indebtedness issued in the name of the Organization shall be signed by two or more officers of the Organization, or its officers' agents, as the Board of Directors may from time to time designate, and in such manner as determined by the Board of Directors. Approved co-signers shall be the President, President-Elect and Treasurer.

5.5 Execution of Written Instruments. After authorization in the manner provided by law or in these Bylaws, all obligations, documents and any other instruments, whether or not requiring a seal, may be executed by the President and attested by the Secretary or the Treasurer or an Assistant Secretary or Assistant Treasurer, if any, or may be executed or attested, or both,

by such other person or persons as may be specifically designated by resolution of the Board of Directors.

5.6 Deposits. All funds to the Organization shall be deposited from time to time to the credit of the Organization in such banks, trust companies or other depositories as the Board of Directors may select.

5.7 Gifts. The Board of Directors may accept on behalf of the Organization any gift, grant, devise, bequest, or contribution or any other means or manner of giving unto the Organization assets for the general purposes or for specific purposes of the Organization (hereinafter “**Gift**”). The Board of Directors shall consider, prior to the acceptance of any Gift, whether such acceptance or any condition attached to the acceptance would be in conflict with the general purposes of the Organization. The Board may determine to decline or disclaim any such Gift when the Gift is not within the general and specific purview and purpose of the Organization, or it is for a specific purpose but is in a sum less than the amount required to finance that specific purpose. However, the Board may determine to accept the Gift, although insufficient in amount, and add or secure other assets in furtherance of the specific purpose of the Gift, provided that the specific purpose of the Gift is within the Organization’s purposes. Should there be a question as to the purpose or timeliness of the Gift as being incompatible with the purpose, mission, or programs and activities of the Organization or when the conditions, limitations or purposes of a particular Gift are deemed to be unacceptable, the Board of Directors is authorized to negotiate, with the donor, changes in the Gift or to decline or disclaim such Gift.

5.8 Financial Assistance. When asked for financial assistance whether by Archbishop Ryan High School or any other entity, the Board will require a formal letter requesting support. If the support is for tuition assistance, the Board will require notification that

the proposed recipients are in good academic and conduct standing. The Board will request copies of their transcripts on a semi-annual basis which will include their first name and last initial to protect their privacy. Any written request received for financial assistance that meets the mandatory criteria will be voted on at the next board meeting upon receipt of the materials including transcripts and any other documentation requested by the Board of Directors. If a decision is made to approve the request, the treasurer must send a letter with a check for the approved amount to the entity that requested assistance with the first names and last initials of the recipients and dollar amounts that were approved by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE VI **NOTICES**

6.1 Form of Notice. Whenever written notice is required or permitted, by these Bylaws or otherwise, to be given to any person or entity, it may be given either personally or by sending a copy thereof to the address or other contact information of the appropriate person or entity as it appears on the books of the Organization. Such notice may be sent (a) electronically; (b) by first class mail (postage prepaid) or by overnight express delivery service (charges prepaid), or (c) by facsimile. If the notice is sent by mail or overnight express delivery, it shall be deemed to have been given when deposited in the United States Mail or delivered to the overnight express delivery service. If the notice is sent by any other form prescribed above, it shall be deemed to have been given when delivery confirmation by the recipient is received by the sender.

6.2 Notice of Meetings. Written notice of every meeting of the Board of Directors shall be given to each Director at least five (5) days prior to the day designated for the meeting. Such notice shall specify the place, day, and hour of the meeting, and in the case of a special meeting of the Board, the general nature of the business to be transacted. Whenever the language of the proposed resolution is included in the written notice of a meeting, the Directors at the meeting considering the resolution may adopt it with such clarifying or other amendments as long as they do not enlarge its original purpose so as to require further notice to persons not present in person.

6.3 Waiver of Notice. Whenever a written notice is required by these Bylaws or under the provisions of applicable law, a waiver of such notice in writing, signed by the person or persons or on behalf of the entity or entities entitled to receive the notice shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of such notice, whether the waiver is signed before or after the time required for such notice. Except as in the case of a special meeting of the Board of Directors or as otherwise required by law, neither the business to be transacted nor the purpose of the meeting need be specified in the waiver of notice of such meeting.

ARTICLE VII
DISSOLUTION

7.1 **Dissolution.** In the event of dissolution or winding-up of the Organization, the Organization's assets, after all debts and expenses have been paid or provided for, shall be distributed in accordance with the terms stated in the Organization's Articles of Incorporation.

ARTICLE VIII
INDEMNIFICATION

8.1 **Indemnification.** The Organization shall indemnify Directors, officers, employees, and agents of the Organization, when acting on behalf of the Organization, to the fullest extent permitted by the Pennsylvania Nonprofit Corporation Law or any other present or future provision of Pennsylvania Nonprofit Corporation Law. The Organization may procure insurance providing greater indemnification to those people and may share the premium cost with any of those people.

8.2 **Rights to Indemnification.** Any amendment or modification of these Bylaws providing for indemnification pursuant to these Bylaws that has the effect of limiting a person's rights to indemnification with respect to any act or failure to act occurring prior to the date of adoption of such amendment or modification shall not be effective as to that person unless he or she consents in writing to be bound by such amendment or modification. The rights provided by or granted pursuant to this Article to a person shall inure to the benefit of his or her heirs, executors and administrators.

ARTICLE IX
FUNDRAISING

9.1 Fundraising Activities and Materials. The Organization shall ensure that fundraising activities and solicitations meet federal and state law requirements and that the Organization’s solicitation materials are accurate, truthful, and candid.

ARTICLE X
CONFLICT OF INTEREST POLICY

10.1 Adoption of Policy. The Organization shall separately adopt a conflict of interest policy and distribute annual disclosure forms for the purpose of screening conflicts. It is the policy of the Organization that no contract or transaction between the Organization and one or more of its Directors or officers, or between the Organization and any “interested” entity shall be authorized or entered into unless the material facts as to the interest and as to the contract or transaction are disclosed or are known to the Board of Directors, and the Board in good faith authorizes the contract or transaction by an affirmative vote of a majority of the Directors other than the interested Director(s) of the Organization. An “interested” entity includes any entity (a) in which one or more of the Directors or officers of the Organization (i) are directors or officers, or (ii) have a financial interest, or (b) in which any Director or officer of the Organization has any other conflict of interest. Interested Directors may be counted in determining the presence of a quorum at a meeting of the Board which authorizes the contract or transaction.

ARTICLE XI
BOOKS AND RECORDS

11.1 Bookkeeping; Recordkeeping. The Organization shall keep (i) complete and accurate financial books and records; (ii) minutes of the proceedings of the meetings of the Board and of any committees having any of the authority of the Board of Directors; (iii) a copy of the Bylaws and any amendments thereto; (iv) a list of the names and contact information of its current Directors and officers; and (v) a copy of the Organizations IRS Form 1023 and most recent reports delivered to state and federal officials. Originals or duplicates of such books and records shall be kept at either the registered office of the Organization, the principal place of business of the Organization, and/or at such other reasonably accessible place as the Secretary may determine.

11.2 Transparency. The Organization shall ensure that its annual federal tax reports, annual reports, and audited financial statements are complete and accurate, and to the extent required by law and in accordance with the procedures established by law, are posted to the Organization's website or otherwise made available to the public upon request.

ARTICLE XII
GENERAL PROVISIONS

12.1 Reimbursement of Expenses. Directors and other individuals serving the Organization may be reimbursed for reasonable expenses in performance of their duties, provided that such reimbursement does not adversely affect the Organization's qualification as an organization exempt under Section 501(a) and described under Section 501(c)(3) of the Code or give rise to intermediate sanctions. Expense reimbursements should be made in accordance with an accountable plan as provided by the Code and its corresponding regulations.

12.2 Action by Directors in Lieu of a Meeting. Unless otherwise restricted by the Articles of Incorporation or by law, any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Board of Directors or any committee thereof may be taken without a meeting, if all members of the Board or committee, as the case may be, consent thereto in writing, and the writing or writings are filed with the minutes of the proceeding of the Board or committee.

ARTICLE XIII
AMENDMENT OF BYLAWS

13.1 Amendments. These bylaws may be altered, amended, supplemented or repealed by a two-thirds vote of the Board of Directors at any meeting of the Board duly convened after notice to the Directors for that purpose or by unanimous written consent or consents of all Directors without a meeting.

* * * * *

Adopted by the Board of Directors on April 9, 2013

Amended by the Board of Directors on August 19, 2015